
 

 
 

Agendas, Reports and Minutes will be provided upon request in the following formats: 
 
Large Clear Print: Braille: Audio: Native Language 

 

 West Lindsey District Council  

Guildhall Gainsborough 
Lincolnshire DN21 2NA 

Tel: 01427 676676 Fax: 01427 675170 
 

AGENDA       

 
This meeting will be webcast live and the video archive published on our 

website 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Tuesday, 24th February, 2026 at 6.30 pm 
Council Chamber - The Guildhall 
 
 
Members: Councillor Jeanette McGhee (Chairman) 

Councillor Roger Patterson (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Stephen Bunney 
Councillor David Dobbie 
Councillor Jacob Flear 
Councillor Paul Howitt-Cowan 
Councillor Peter Morris 
Councillor Lynda Mullally 
Councillor Maureen Palmer 
Councillor Roger Pilgrim 
Councillor Mrs Mandy Snee 

 
 

1.  Apologies for Absence  
 

 

2.  Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday, 29 January 2026. 
 

(PAGES 3 - 10) 

3.  Members' Declarations of Interest 
 
Members may make any declarations of interest at this point 
and may also make them at any point during the meeting. 
 

 

4.  Matters Arising Schedule 
 
Matters arising schedule setting out current position of 
previously agreed actions as at Monday, 16 February 2026.  

(PAGE 11) 

Public Document Pack



5.  Public Reports  
 

 

i)  Good Homes Alliance 
 

(PAGES 12 - 31) 

6.  General Work Items  
 

 

i)  Forward Plan 
 

(PAGES 32 - 36) 

ii)  Committee Workplan 
 

(PAGE 37) 

7.  Exclusion of Public and Press 
 
To resolve that under Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public and press be excluded from 
the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 1, 2 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of 
the Act. 
 

 

8.  Closed Session: Preparation for Everyone Active 
Presentation  
 

 

 
 

Paul Burkinshaw 
Head of Paid Service 

The Guildhall 
Gainsborough 

 
Monday, 16 February 2026 

 
 
 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  29 January 2026 

29 
 

WEST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of the Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in the Council 
Chamber - The Guildhall on  29 January 2026 commencing at 6.30 pm. 
 
 
Present:   

 Councillor Roger Patterson (Chairman) 

 Councillor Lynda Mullally (Vice-Chairman) 

 Councillor Stephen Bunney 

 Councillor Frazer Brown 

 Councillor Maureen Palmer 

 Councillor Karen Carless 

 
 
In Attendance:  
Paul Burkinshaw Chief Executive 
Nova Roberts Director of Change Management, ICT & Regulatory 

Services 
Darren Mellors Performance & Programme Manager 
Grant White Communities Manager 
Andy Gray Housing & Environmental Enforcement Manager 
Ellen King  Policy and Strategy Officer 
Molly Spencer Democratic & Civic Officer 
Kimberley Pickett  Lincolnshire Resilience Forum (External)  
Emma Wilkinson Lincolnshire Resilience Forum (External)  
 
Apologies: Councillor Jeanette McGhee 

Councillor Jacob Flear 
Councillor Peter Morris 
Councillor Roger Pilgrim 
Councillor Mrs Mandy Snee 

 
Membership: Councillor Karen Carless was appointed substitute for 

Councillor Mandy Snee 
Councillor Frazer Brown was appointed substitute for 
Councillor Peter Morris 

 
 
32 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
With no comments or questions, it was  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 

Tuesday, 18 November 2025 be confirmed and signed as a correct record. 

 
33 MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest made.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  29 January 2026 

30 
 

34 MATTERS ARISING SCHEDULE 
 

The Democratic and Civic Officer informed Members that the Matters Arising related to 

Emergency Plans was completed and passed to the Performance and Programme Manager 

who informed Members of the Committee that, following the Committee’s discussion in 

October 2025, attempts had been made to meet Members before Christmas to convene the 

Working Group. Due to limited availability, a suitable date had not been identified, and the 

Working Group had therefore not been established. 

 

Members were informed that the work originally intended for the Working Group had since 

been incorporated into the development of the thematic business plans. 

 

To ensure Member involvement, the proposed performance measure set had been 

circulated to all Councillors following the October 2025 meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, providing an opportunity for Members to submit comments and contribute to the 

review. Therefore, the Matter Arising had been marked as completed.  

 

With no further comments or questions the Matters Arising Schedule was DULY NOTED.  

 

 
35 PRESENTATION ITEM: LINCOLNSHIRE RESILIENCE FORUM 

 
The Housing and Environmental Enforcement Manager introduced Kimberley from 

Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue, noting that she would present the community resilience work 

undertaken through the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum. It was explained that significant 

progress had been made over the past year to strengthen emergency planning, with trained 

Officers now in place and recent incidents managed effectively through partnership working. 

The presentation outlined how communities had been developing their own local resilience 

plans.  

 

It was explained to Members of the Committee that the LRF’s aim was to raise public 

awareness of flood and non-flood related emergencies in the county and provide a 

foundation to build stronger, more resilient communities able to proactively plan for 

responding to and recovering from incidents whilst maintaining the welfare of their residents.  

 

The LRF was explained as bringing together emergency services, local authorities, health 

providers, the Environment Agency, voluntary groups, and other key organisations.  

 

Community Emergency Response Teams were explained as a group of tactically trained 

local volunteers who were ready to act and support their community by preparing for 

responding too and recovering from emergencies. 

 

Examples were provided of local emergencies and how the community response teams had 

reacted with community resilience.  

 

A Member of the Committee raised an issue regarding a recent incident in which a cordon 

had been put in place and homes had been evacuated. It was noted that, although the 

Page 4



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  29 January 2026 

31 
 

community had an emergency plan and key holders were able to open facilities quickly, 

initial contact had been made with the parish clerk rather than the relevant emergency 

planning personnel. This had created some difficulty, and the Member highlighted the need 

for clearer initial communication during such events. A further example was given of a later 

incident in Market Rasen, where contact had again been made in the Member’s capacity as 

a County Councillor rather than through the community emergency response arrangements. 

 

In response, Kimberley clarified that the example referenced had been intended to illustrate 

the value of community resilience rather than to suggest that a formal community emergency 

response team had been deployed. It was confirmed that lessons had been identified 

through the debrief process and that improvements were being implemented. Work was 

ongoing to support communities in recruiting and empowering volunteers and in promoting 

awareness of local emergency response arrangements. 

 

The outlined the aim of establishing a consistent baseline of community resilience across 

parishes was explained to Members of the Committee. Communities were being supported 

to develop plans, form a core group of volunteers, and put basic structures in place, with the 

intention that stronger Community Emergency Response Teams could then be built over 

time. 

 

It was explained that the focus was on helping communities plan for, respond to, and recover 

more quickly from emergencies. Support was offered throughout the process, with Kimberley 

acting as the Community Resilience Officer for Lincolnshire. Assistance included help with 

drafting plans and ongoing guidance as teams developed. 

 

Members were advised that each parish area was provided with a Community Emergency 

Response starter kit containing basic equipment to aid communication and initial response. 

The kit was intended for a team of ten volunteers, with communities able to expand their 

equipment as they wished. 

 

Once plans had been completed and agreed, teams were given contact details for the duty 

emergency planning officers, who were available at all times. It was confirmed that, where 

volunteers were acting under the direction of the emergency planning team and had 

completed the required documentation, their activities would be covered by the County 

Council’s indemnity insurance. 

 

Different alert statuses were explained, Kimberley demonstrated the online mapping tool that 

allowed community groups to search their parish and check the status of any Community 

Emergency Response Team. It was explained that the system indicated whether a team was 

established, in development, or not yet formed, and provided the emergency planning 

contact email for further enquiries. Communities were encouraged to explore the tool and to 

contact the service if they wished to begin the process. 

 

Members were informed that promotional materials, including a new leaflet covering fire 

safety, community resilience, and flexible volunteering options, had been produced to 

support engagement at public events. Kimberley also referred to the “Ready for Anything” 

volunteer scheme, which allowed individuals to opt in for occasional support without the 

Page 5



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  29 January 2026 

32 
 

commitments of joining a formal response team. 

 

It was reported that a community resilience conference would take place on 7 October 2026 

at the Petwood Hotel, open both to existing volunteers and those seeking further 

information. The event aimed to share good practice from across Lincolnshire. Kimberley 

emphasised the importance of ongoing training and engagement to ensure that community 

plans remained active rather than becoming static documents. 

 

The Chairman thanked Kimberley for her presentation and opened the floor to Members.  

 
Members thanked Kimberley for the presentation and noted that community resilience work 

was developing at different paces across Parishes, with some Councils concerned about 

taking on additional responsibilities. Interest was expressed in the emergency response 

starter kit as a way to promote the scheme at local events. 

 

Kimberley confirmed that Community Emergency Response Teams were community-led 

rather than Parish-Council-led, with broader community involvement essential to avoid over 

reliance on the same volunteers. Parish Councils served mainly as a contact point, while 

responsibility for maintaining plans rested with the community teams. 

 

Members raised ongoing flooding issues in Sturton by Stow, highlighting the significant 

impact on affected residents. Kimberley acknowledged the stresses associated with flooding 

and signposted Members to resources on the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum website, 

including the “Blue Pages” directory and “Flood Mary”, a social media account which shared 

low-cost mitigation ideas based on personal experience. Kimberley encouraged signposting 

residents to these resources for further practical advice. 

 

The Chairman referred to recent incidents in Ingham and praised the strong community 

response. He emphasised the importance of helping residents maintain daily routines during 

emergencies and suggested wider promotion of resilience information to parishes and local 

service providers. 

 

A Member noted that parish engagement with emergency planning had historically been 

inconsistent and suggested that additional support from councillors could assist. He 

emphasised that resilience planning covered a wide range of incidents beyond flooding and 

highlighted the importance of coordinated local groups during the early stages of an 

emergency. 

 

In response, Kimberley welcomed Members’ support and explained that she used interactive 

sessions with communities to help them identify key elements of their plan. She noted that 

she was the sole Community Resilience Officer for Lincolnshire, making Councillor advocacy 

particularly valuable. Officers added that District Council staff regularly promoted resilience 

planning during parish engagement and would provide further materials to assist councillors 

in encouraging take-up. 

 

In bringing discussions to a close, the Chairman thanked Kimberley and Emma for a 

thorough and informative presentation, and thanked Members for their engaging discussion.  

Page 6



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  29 January 2026 

33 
 

 

Following the presentation, the Chairman sought nominations to elect a Vice-Chairman for 

the remainder of the meeting.  

 

Having been proposed, seconded and voted upon it was  

 

RESOLVED that Councillor Mullally be appointed Vice-Chairman of the Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee for the remainder of the meeting.  

 

 
36 WLDC CORPORATE PLAN 'OUR WEST LINDSEY, OUR FUTURE' 2026-2030 

 
The Chief Executive introduced the draft Corporate Plan, the supporting thematic business 

plans, and the new internal governance arrangements, explaining that Members were invited 

to offer comment on the presented documents. 

 

He outlined the context for the review, noting recommendations from the Local Government 

Association’s corporate peer challenge, recent organisational and political leadership 

changes, and wider uncertainty linked to local government reorganisation. Regular review of 

the Corporate Plan was highlighted as essential to maintaining a clear strategic direction. 

 

Members of the Committee were informed that the Corporate Plan focused on three core 

areas: delivering good quality local services, ensuring the Council operated as a 

well-managed and trusted authority, and enhancing places and outcomes for residents and 

businesses. These were reflected in an overarching vision and the refreshed themes of 

thriving people, thriving place, and thriving Council. Updated organisational values and 

behaviours, aligned with the new workforce plan, were incorporated into the document. 

 

The Chief Executive explained that the previous Executive Business Plan had been replaced 

with thematic business plans to give clearer alignment to the Corporate Plan. These plans 

would be considered by the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee on 12 February 

2026 before submission to Full Council on 2 March 2026, alongside the budget. 

 

He reported that internal governance arrangements had been streamlined in response to the 

peer challenge, with three strategic delivery panels established to coordinate delivery of the 

plan. Performance against the thematic business plans would be reported quarterly to Policy 

Committees, with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee able to examine issues in more 

detail. Work was ongoing to introduce Member representation on the delivery panels to 

provide political oversight. 

 

Committee Members were advised that the thematic plans continued to be refined and that 

updated versions would be presented to the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee, 

reflecting comments raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

A Member of the Committee raised comments regarding the proposed governance boards, 

noting that previous arrangements had sometimes resulted in duplication between Member 

and Officer groups. The Member welcomed the introduction of a lead Member role within 

Page 7



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  29 January 2026 

34 
 

each panel, suggesting that this could improve coordination and reduce unnecessary 

meetings. It was further proposed that lead Members might report annually to the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee to enhance wider Member involvement in scrutiny. The Member 

also queried the method for appointing lead Members and suggested that broader political 

representation could strengthen accountability. 

 

The Chairman highlighted the positive working relationships between Councillors and 

Officers and emphasised the value of collaborative working across the organisation. He 

referred to the need for effective scrutiny alongside constructive engagement. The Chairman 

also raised concerns relating to the future of local government reorganisation and the 

potential implications for local planning control, noting the importance of maintaining an 

up-to-date local plan to safeguard the district’s interests. He expressed support for the 

Corporate Plan as a forward-looking document already demonstrating evidence of delivery. 

 

A Member of the Committee commented on the clarity and presentation of the draft 

Corporate Plan and asked whether District Councillors could be included within the section 

relating to collaborative working with Parish and Town Councils, noting their role as 

connectors within communities. 

 

The Chief Executive welcomed the positive feedback and confirmed that strengthening 

relationships with Parish and Town Councils was an important area of work, particularly in 

the context of potential local government reorganisation. He noted that further development 

of those structures was planned and agreed that District Councillors played a key part in 

local engagement. 

 

The Chief Executive also responded to earlier points raised during the debate, highlighting 

that quarterly performance reporting against the thematic business plans would ensure 

regular Member oversight. Work was ongoing to determine how lead Member roles would 

align with the new governance arrangements once the Corporate Plan and budget had been 

approved. He emphasised the importance of continued collaboration between Members and 

Officers and outlined the move towards more agile internal structures, replacing multiple 

previous boards with three strategic delivery panels supplemented by task-specific groups 

as required. 

 

It was noted that the Corporate Plan covered the period 2026–2030 but that delivery would 

need to be considered in the context of potential local government reorganisation. 

Committee Members were assured that priorities and deliverables were being reviewed with 

this in mind. 

 

With no further comments or questions, it was  

 

RESOLVED that  

 

a) Members had reviewed and commented on the draft Corporate Plan ‘Our West 

Lindsey, Our Future’, which covered the period 2026 – 2030 as set out in 

Appendix 1. 

 

Page 8



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  29 January 2026 

35 
 

b) Members had reviewed and commented on the three draft Thematic Business 

Plans covering the Corporate Plan themes of ‘Thriving People’ (Appendix 2), 

‘Thriving Places’ (Appendix 3) and ‘Thriving Council’ (Appendix 4) 

 

c) Members had noted the new governance arrangements as outlined in para. 5 of 

the report which ensured effective and efficient delivery of the council’s priorities. 

 
 

37 SCRUTINY OF PROGRESS AND DELIVERY QUARTER TWO (2025/26) 
 

The Performance and Programme Manager introduced the item, explaining that Members 

were asked to scrutinise the minutes relating to the Quarter 2 Progress and Delivery Report. 

It was noted that the report had been considered by the Prosperous Communities 

Committee on 2 December 2025 and the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee on 11 

December 2025, and that the corresponding minutes were attached for review. Committee 

Members were asked to consider the responses provided by both Committees and to 

confirm that appropriate challenge had been applied to the performance information. 

 

A Member of the Committee confirmed that the minutes from the two Policy Committees 

appeared clear and demonstrated appropriate challenge. It was noted that some Key 

Performance Indicators were now less relevant and might need review, but overall, the 

scrutiny undertaken by the Committees was considered satisfactory.  

 

Another Member raised questions regarding fly-tipping data, asking whether quarterly 

information could be broken down into rural and urban areas, as this would support 

engagement with Parish Councils. The Member also asked whether more regular updates 

could be shared with District Councillors so they could better report outcomes to local 

communities. 

 

In response, the officer confirmed that all reports were recorded on the system and that he 

would speak with operational staff to determine whether the requested data could be 

provided and circulated. 

 

The Chairman commented that both Committees had applied strong challenge and that the 

report demonstrated continued improvement and high performance across services. He 

acknowledged the contribution of Officers and welcomed the reduction in fly-tipping, 

encouraging continued reporting by residents.  

 

A further Member noted the availability of the Council’s reporting app, which included 

mapping functions. It was suggested that more regular access to such data, potentially in the 

form of routine updates, would be beneficial. 

 

The Lead Officer advised that, where Members required specific information in preparation 

for Parish or other local meetings, Officers were able to provide tailored data covering both 

collection and enforcement activity. Members were invited to request information as needed. 

 

A Member of the Committee welcomed this support and expressed appreciation for the work 

Page 9



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  29 January 2026 

36 
 

undertaken by the enforcement team within her wards, noting the positive impact being 

achieved. 

 

With no further comments or questions, it was  

 

RESOLVED that the Committee had examined the responses given to the report by 

the Prosperous Communities and the Corporate Policy and Resources Committees 

and had assured themselves that the appropriate level of challenge had been made 

by those Committees to the information contained in the report. 

 

 
38 FORWARD PLAN 

 
With no comments or questions the Forward Plan was DULY NOTED. 

 

 
39 COMMITTEE WORKPLAN 

 
The Democratic and Civic Officer informed the Members of the Committee that the Acting 

Chief Superintendent had been invited to attend the February 2026 meeting. A response had 

been received confirming that the matter would be discussed at his forthcoming meeting with 

the Chief Executive, the Leader, and the Deputy Leader on 11 February 2026.  

 

With no further comments or questions the Committee Work Plan was DULY NOTED.  

 
 
The meeting concluded at 7.55 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 10



   

Overview and Scrutiny Matters Arising Schedule - as at 04/02/26                                                      
  
 
Purpose: 
To consider progress on the matters arising from previous Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings. 
 
Recommendation: That Members note progress on the matters arising and request corrective action if necessary. 
 
Matters Arising Schedule 
 

Status Title Action Required Comments Due Date Allocated To 

Black Progress & Delivery 

Working Group  

A working group be established 

by the Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee and include 

representation from Full Council  

... It was noted that the move towards a more streamlined 

reporting structure made considerable sense, particularly in 

terms of measuring efficiency and supporting the scrutiny 

function. The importance of holding officers, Members, and the 

Council collectively to account was emphasised. Support was 

expressed for the approach, with a suggestion that the working 

group established by the Committee could be broadened to 

include representation from Full Council, thereby ensuring a 

wider range of perspectives... From minutes of the Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee 14.10.2025 

 

Update 29.01.26 - Members were informed that the work 

originally intended for the Working Group had since been 

incorporated into the development of the thematic business 

plans. 

(blank) Darren 

Mellors 

 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 4



 
 
 
 

 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Tuesday, 24 February 2026 

 

     
Subject: Good Homes Alliance 

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Director of Planning, Regeneration & 
Communities 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Sarah Elvin 
Homes, Health & Wellbeing Team Manager 
 
sarah.elvin@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 
Adam Newman- Pring  
Good Home Alliance Lead 
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

To provide an update on the progress of the 
Lincolnshire Good Home Alliance pilot (operating 
from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026) to support 
2026/27 budget setting from 1 July 2026, when 
the current funding period ends. 

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 

1. Members consider the content of this report on the Good Home Alliance 
(GHA) pilot activities, performance and outcomes to date, to inform the 
Corporate Policy and Resources Committee’s consideration on continued 
funding of the GHA Advice & Casework service for a further 21 months 
from 1 July 2026 to 31 March 2028.  
 

2. Members support further work by WLDC officers and the Good Homes 
Alliance (GHA) on the opportunities to lobby for change and additional 
funding to support the climate agenda with retro fitting energy efficiency 
measures in households, over and above those available through the 
Warm Homes Local Grants.  

 
3. Members champion an increase in communications to highlight the 

positive work of the Good Homes Alliance (GHA) and the unique 
opportunity provided to Lincolnshire through this service. 
 

 
IMPLICATIONS 

Page 12

Agenda Item 5a



 

Legal: 

Extension of the GHA advice and casework service is subject to local agreement 
and financial contributions from the participating councils. 

 

Financial: FIN/162/26/OSC/SL 

There are no financial implications arising from this report.  

The total funding contribution required to continue the provision of GHA advice 
and casework activities in the West Lindsey District Council area to 31 March 
2028 is £33,871. 

 

Staffing: 

There are no workforce capacity or contractual implications associated with 
WLDC continued funding of the GHA advice and casework service due existing 
employment and hosting arrangements being undertaken by East Lindsey District 
and Boston Borough Council. 

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights: 

The GHA operates in accordance with the public sector equality duty as it helps 
advance equality of opportunity in relation to age and disability. 

The advice and casework service provides an all-age, tenure-blind provision to 
residents and household in need of support to be able to live independently, 
safely, warm and well at home. The service is available to eligible residents, 
regardless of protected characteristic, income or individual/household means.  

 

Data Protection Implications: 

The GHA utilises the LCC Mosaic case management system (CMS) to record 
casework information.  

Client casework data is held locally by ELDC in accordance with established data 
protection policies and procedures for the collection and recording of client 
information. 

A Data Sharing Agreement has been executed between ELDC, LCC and LSE for 
the provision of sharing GHA data for the purpose of evaluation activities. 

The GHA operates a client information and privacy statement for all referrals. 
GHA referrals are only accepted with client permission. 

 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities: 

The GHA advice and casework service works closely with a range of energy 
advice and efficiency providers, schemes and programmes, signposting residents 
to available energy improvement schemes or directly supporting households to 
improve the energy efficiency of their home, or mitigate impacts associated with 
living in energy inefficient homes. 

 Page 13



Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations: 

Good Homes Lincs (GHL) web-resources provide associated home safety and 
security content, providing information and signposting to resident to ensure their 
home remain safe and secure, including engaging ‘trusted tradespeople’. 

The GHA has liaised with Trading Standards and Community Safety officers to 
provide relevant information on targeted home crime – such as ‘Doorstep fraud’ 
and rouge traders. 

GHA advice and casework activities have involved supporting residents impacted 
by rouge trader works and provides practical assistance to identify and engage 
‘trusted tradespeople’ to undertake identified home improvement works. 

 

Health Implications: 

The Good Home Alliance advice and casework pilot is focused on improving 
health and wellbeing outcomes associated with or impacted by poor housing 
conditions or related housing condition issues. 

 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of 
this report : 

1. Centre for Ageing Better. Good Home Inquiry 2021.  
 https://ageing-better.org.uk/good-home-inquiry 

2. Good Home Lincs. https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport/good-home-lincs/ 

 A cross-county guide to Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 

 An all-tenure guide to Condensation Damp & Mould 

 A ‘Staying Safe Warm and Well at Home this Winter’ information guide. 

 Good Home Lincs social media pack 2025 

3. Good Home Lins Better Homes, Better Lives – Interim Evaluation Report 
Https://ageing-better.org.uk/resources/better-homes-better-lives-interim-
report 

 

Risk Assessment:   

Risk management is overseen by the Good Home Alliance Steering Group and 
Lincolnshire Healthy and Accessible Homes Group, and reported to the 
Lincolnshire Housing Health and Health Ageing delivery group as part of the 
overarching project governance. 

 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to 
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman) Yes   No x  

Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has 
significant financial implications Yes   No x  

Page 14

https://ageing-better.org.uk/good-home-inquiry
https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/good-home-lincs/
https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/media/gu4mjp31/final-lincolnshire-dfg-leaflet-full-colour-pdf.pdf
https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/media/h1pjswfw/a-guide-to-condensation-damp-mould-gha-draft-leaflet-final-draft.pdf
https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/media/islnkgnb/staying-safe-warm-well-at-home-this-winter-booklet-print-version-2025.pdf
https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/media/hjxjmdha/good-home-lincs-social-media-pack-2025.docx
https://ageing-better.org.uk/resources/better-homes-better-lives-interim-report


1. Executive Summary 
 

1.1 In September 2024, Lincolnshire districts and county councils launched the Lincolnshire Good 
Home Alliance (GHA,) a countywide partnership, with the common aim to help residents of all 
ages and tenures stay safe, warm, and well in their homes.  

1.2 Funded by Lincolnshire district and county councils for the pilot period from 1 July 2024 to 30 
June 2026, the GHA is delivering accessible, practical information through the Good Home 
Lincs web resource, hosted on the Connect to Support Lincolnshire platform, as well as a new 
Healthy Home Assessment tool, empowering residents and frontline workers to identify and 
act on housing issues before they escalate.  

1.3 For those needing more hands-on help, the GHA offers a dedicated Advice and Casework 
Service, supporting vulnerable residents with everything from finding funding and trusted 
tradespeople to arranging and completing essential home improvements or even helping 
them move to a more suitable home.  

1.4 Professionals from across Lincolnshire, also benefit from a Professional Advice offer, helping 
them better support residents living in poor housing conditions.  

1.5 This report provides detail on GHA activities, outputs and outcomes of the service since 
launch, and an overview of year 1 evaluation findings, undertaken by the London School of 
Economics (LSE), funded by the Centre for Ageing better, including: 

 Good Home Lincs web-user activity: More than 9,500 total users, 21,000 page views 
and average completion of 3.5 Healthy Home Assessments per week. 

 Community Engagement activity: More than 2,000 residents engaged across the 
county, and over 200 residents in the West Lindsey District Council (WLDC) area. 

 Advice & Casework outputs and outcomes: A total of 391 referrals across the 
county, and 21 referrals for WLDC residents, and the completed improvement of 40 
homes with direct caseworker support. 

 Alliance Partnership activities: NHS/Children & Young People with Asthma, 
Lincolnshire Family Hubs, Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue, Trading Standards, 
voluntary and community sector services and wider providers concerned with the 
improvement and impact of poor housing conditions. 

1.6 Evaluation of the first year of GHA delivery indicates that the benefits of the service and 
model are high. Positive effects in terms of reduced hazards and greater client wellbeing 
began to appear as the first cases were closed, and the flow of benefits is now accelerating.  

1.7 In the next phase of the evaluation, LSE will collect more robust evidence on the type and 
magnitude of benefits, including importantly reductions in public-sector costs, to inform a 
more detailed cost-benefit analysis.  

1.8 Overall, however, LSE note that the experience of the first year suggests that the advice and 
casework service represents good value for money. 

1.9 GHA advice and casework officers are employed and hosted by East Lindsey District Council 
(ELDC) and funded via contributions from both district and county councils, inclusive of 
Lincolnshire County, East Lindsey, Boston Borough, City of Lincoln, North Kesteven, South 
Holland and West Lindsey district councils.  

1.10 Funded for an initial two-year pilot period, this report sets out the funding contribution 
required from WLDC to continue the provision of GHA advice and casework service activities 
from the end of the current funding period on 30 June 2026 for a further 21 months to 31 
March 2028. 

1.11 The total funding contribution required to continue the provision of GHA advice and 
casework activities in the West Lindsey District Council area to 31 March 2028 is £33,871.

Page 15



 

2 Introduction 
 

2.1 By bringing together local expertise, funding opportunities, and practical 
support, Good Home Hubs aim to transform lives, reduce pressure on health 
and social care systems, and ensure that everyone, regardless of tenure, age 
or income, can live in a home that is safe, comfortable, and fit for the future.  

2.2 Lincolnshire is now leading the way in turning this vision into reality. As a 
strategic partner of the Centre for Ageing Better (AB), Lincolnshire is piloting 
the first Good Home Hub, designed to serve as a scalable model for England 
and Wales.  

2.3 In September 2024, Lincolnshire County and district councils launched 
the Lincolnshire Good Home Alliance (GHA), a bold, countywide partnership, 
aiming to help residents of all ages and tenures stay safe, warm, and well in 
their homes.  

2.4 The GHA is funded by financial contributions from both district and county 
councils, and delivers accessible, practical information through the Good 
Home Lincs (GHL) web resource, a new Healthy Home Assessment 
(HHA) tool, empowering residents and frontline workers to identify and act on 
housing issues before they escalate, and for those needing more hands-on 
help, the GHA offers a dedicated Advice and Casework Service, supporting 
vulnerable residents with everything from finding funding and trusted 
tradespeople to arranging and completing essential home improvements or 
even helping them move to a more suitable home.   

2.5 Professionals from across Lincolnshire, also benefit from 
a Professional Advice offer through the advice and casework team, helping 
them better support residents living in poor housing conditions.  

2.6 Operating from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026, the 2-year pilot is being 
independently evaluated by the London School of Economics (LSE), funded 
by the Centre for Ageing Better. 

2.7 This report sets out the key findings from the first year of operations, and the 
funding contributions required to continue the advice and casework pilot for a 
further 21 months from 1 July 2026 (when the current pilot and funding period 
ends) to the 31 March 2028. 

3 Background 

3.1 In 2021, the Centre for Ageing Better published the Good Home Inquiry, a 
landmark, evidenced-based analysis of housing in England. It revealed the 
urgent need to address the poor condition of millions of homes across the 
country, which pose serious risks to health, safety, and wellbeing, particularly 
for older and vulnerable residents. 

3.2 One of its key recommendations was the creation of ‘Good Home Hubs’ in 
every area. These hubs would act as trusted, accessible one-stop centres 
offering: 

 Clear, tailored information and advice on home improvement.  
 Guidance on available services, schemes, grants, and products.  
 Support with planning, paying for, and commissioning works.  
 Help to navigate the often-complex process of making a home safer, 

warmer, and more suitable for ageing. 

3.3 Between May 2022 and April 2023, ARK Consultancy were employed by the 
Centre for Ageing Better to work with a project team from LCC and district 
officers. The purpose of the project team was to engage with residents and 
organisations across Lincolnshire to understand how more residents could be 
supported to live in a home that meets their needs and is well maintained. 

Page 16



 

3.4 The process involved: 

 Reviewing existing evidence, nationally and in Lincolnshire  
 Engaging with individuals, groups and stakeholders to understand issues 

and barriers. 
 Developing, designing and testing out new solutions. 
 Producing a service framework for delivery in Lincolnshire and 

elsewhere.  

3.5 The project engaged with stakeholders across Lincolnshire including: 

 1093 responses to community survey 
 68 responses to staff survey  
 Over 40 community groups 
 Over 250 individuals 

3.6 This resulted in the development of the ‘Good Home Alliance’ model and 
identification of the key themes the services should address, including: 

 Simplified access to information and services 
 Advice on options 
 Healthy home assessment 
 Keeping warm / energy efficiency 
 Finding Trusted tradespeople 
 Financial solutions 
 Support to commission work 
 Practical support 

 

4. Good Home Lincs resources (information & signposting) 
 

4.1 Hosted on the Connect to Support Lincolnshire (CTSL) web-platform, Good 
Home Lincs (GHL) provides tenure blind information, signposting and 
resources to help people identify services and solutions to enable them to 
stay safe, warm and well at home.  

4.2 The webpages aim to bring together existing information from trusted sources 
from across the internet and county into one place, providing residents and 
those supporting them with a ‘one-stop-shop’ for all housing, maintenance, 
repair, improvement and adaptation issues – including information on moving 
home and maintaining a healthy home. 

4.3 Content and information contained within the on-line resources has been 
developed in partnership with organisations, networks and services across 
Lincolnshire, including:  

 Lincolnshire Healthy and Accessible Homes Group  
 Lincolnshire Housing Standards Group  
 Lincolnshire Financial Inclusion Partnership  
 Lincolnshire Trading Standards Buy with Confidence scheme  
 Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue  
 Greater Lincolnshire Energy Efficiency Network  
 Safer Lincolnshire Partnership   
 Lincolnshire ICS Children & Young People Asthma Network 

4.4 To support residents and households that are less digitally included, the 
Lincolnshire Connect to Support platform offers a range of accessibility 
features, including language translation, increased text size, and an PDF 
booklet function, enabling content to be printed in hard copy format. 

4.5 The web pages include an ‘interactive house’ image through which web-users 
can navigate to relevant content by clicking on the image (see Figure 1 
below). 

Page 17

https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/
https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/good-home-lincs/
https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/good-home-lincs/


 

 

Figure 1. GHL Interactive House Tool 

 

 

4.6 In addition, the GHA has produced printable leaflets for distribution at 
community events, and for those who are less able to access online 
information, including: 

 A cross-county guide to Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 
 An all-tenure guide to Condensation Damp & Mould 
 A ‘Staying Safe Warm and Well at Home this Winter’ information guide. 

4.7 Since launch of the GHL webpages, additional intersections and interactions 
have been identified to further the resources and access to information 
available between the GHA and other Lincolnshire services, including:  

4.8 ‘Money Talk Lincs’ (MTL). Links and signposts have 
been established between associated CTSL sections of GHL and MTL to 
navigate web users to relevant content without needing to have awareness of 
the other section.  

4.9 ‘Wellbeing Lincs’. Links and signposts have been established between 
associated CTSL sections of GHL and Wellbeing Lincs to navigate web users 
to relevant content without needing to have awareness of the other section.  

4.10 ‘Armed Forces Community Directory’. Links have been established 
from the directory to the GHL webpages for those (veterans and military 
families) seeking housing related information and advice.  

4.11 ‘Lincolnshire Community Foundation’ (LCF). Links from the LCF 
website have been established to navigate web users to the GHL when 
seeking further help and support.  

4.12 ‘Lincolnshire Alert – Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner’ 
(OPCC). Lincolnshire Alert has featured links to the GHL webpages when 
providing relevant message alerts. E.g. ‘Rogue Traders’ and door-step fraud 
for home repair or maintenance.  

4.13 ‘Lincolnshire Community and Voluntary Partnership’. The LCVP website 
has featured links to GHL and promotes GHA information sessions for wider 
Lincolnshire stakeholders to increase awareness of GHL. 

4.14 ‘Lincolnshire ICB - Your health and services’. This website features links 
to GHL and the joint (NHS/GHA) produced ‘Guide to condensation, damp and 
mould’ downloadable PDF to provide information and advice to anyone 
concerned about damp and mould, or other issues in the house that can 
affect a child with Asthma.  

4.15 Healthy Home Assessment. Accessed via a dedicated ‘Healthy Home 
Assessment’ section of the GHL webpages, the Healthy Home Assessment 

Page 18

https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/media/gu4mjp31/final-lincolnshire-dfg-leaflet-full-colour-pdf.pdf
https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/media/h1pjswfw/a-guide-to-condensation-damp-mould-gha-draft-leaflet-final-draft.pdf
https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/media/islnkgnb/staying-safe-warm-well-at-home-this-winter-booklet-print-version-2025.pdf


 

tool enables web visitors to fill in a questionnaire with details of their property 
condition and the kind of support they need and are directed to relevant 
information and services on the website. The HHA tool is designed to be used 
by residents, households and families as well as supporting professionals 
visiting clients in their homes, who can complete the questionnaire on clients’ 
behalf. 

4.16 Social Media. A publicly available social media pack is also available 
providing a series of social media posts to promote GHL. The social media 
pack is available to download on the GHL webpages for alliance partners and 
other stakeholders to promote and share across their networks. 

4.17 In addition to the on-line Good Home Lincs resources, the Good Home 
Alliance Team attends community events, centres and activities to promote 
GHL, provide hard copy resources and on the spot information, signposting 
and advice to residents and attendees. Good Home Lincs representation at 
events has included:  

 Local Energy Advice Demonstrator events  
 Social Prescribers Network events 
 Health & Wellbeing events 
 NHS Falls events 
 Family Hub events  
 Carers groups  
 Health watch events 
 Veterans’ events  
 Lincolnshire Show  
 Flu and Covid vaccination clinics 

 

5 Good Home Alliance Advice and Casework Support 

5.1 The Lincolnshire Good Home Alliance advice and casework team offers a 
‘professional advice’ service to all professionals (paid and voluntary) working 
in Lincolnshire. This service element provides information and advice to 
enable people supporting residents and households to signpost and support 
residents to address any identified housing condition issues.   

5.2 The GHA team has provided advice to a range of professionals working for 
organisations and teams including:  

 District Councils (Housing Standards, Accessible Homes and Customer 
Contact Staff)  

 County Council (Early Help, Social Care and Occupational Therapy)  
 NHS Hospitals and Respiratory specialists  
 Neighbourhood Teams (NHS and Housing)  
 GP surgeries and social prescribers  
 Lincolnshire Fire & Rescue  
 Wellbeing Lincs.  
 Carers Services  
 Sensory Services  

5.3 Anglian Water offers an Extra Care Assessment to identify whether 
customers are eligible for discounted tariffs, priority services and other 
support schemes. They will also check for ways to maximise customers 
income by advising what benefits a household may be entitled to and 
identifying additional support that may be available to support residents. 

5.4 The GHA team works proactively with Anglian Water to ensure residents are 
aware of one another’s services by attending joint events. In addition, the 
Anglian Water Extra Care Support Team has been provided with the GHA 

Page 19

https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/media/hjxjmdha/good-home-lincs-social-media-pack-2025.docx


 

team email and phone number, to enable their staff to access the professional 
advice service and provide further information and advice to residents in need 
of support.  

5.5 Groundworks Green Doctors offer free impartial advice to residents to help 
people manage bills and save energy in the home. Green Doctors can 
provide different kinds of support, including advice on paying off debt with 
energy and water companies, identifying other concerns such as damp & 
mould, and making referrals to other services.  

5.6 The Green Doctors in Lincolnshire are working proactively with the GHA, 
taking referrals from the advice and case work service, sharing information at 
events and accessing the GHA professional advice service when wider 
housing condition related issues are identified in the home during one of their 
visits.  

5.7 The GHA team operate an advice and casework pilot service, providing direct 
advice and support to more vulnerable residents. Advice and support 
provided ranges from helping residents to identify potential funding options to 
pay for work, finding and engaging trusted trades people, to providing 
practical support to arrange and complete works, and, where appropriate, 
supporting residents to move to a more suitable home.   

5.8 Referrals to this service are accepted from a range of referral partners, 
including District and County council teams, Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue, 
NHS asthma & hospital discharge practitioners, the Wellbeing service, Local 
Energy Advice Demonstrators, and Lincolnshire Family Hub staff. Referrals 
are accepted for residents of all tenure and age where the following criteria is 
met:  

a) The household is resident of Boston Borough Council, City of Lincoln 
Council, East Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District Council, 
South Holland District Council or West Lindsey District Council. AND  

b) The occupant has provided consent to the referral and to be contacted 
by a GHA caseworker; is eligible for a service provided by the referring 
partner and/or  

 The referring partner has identified potential housing condition issues 
that may place the occupant at risk of harm.   

 The referring partner has supported the occupant to complete a HHA 
and has identified housing condition, access or improvement issues.   

 The occupant is unwilling / unable to complete a Healthy Home 
Assessment form, but willing to be supported by the Advice and 
Casework team and has an identified vulnerability due to age, disability, 
health condition, financial hardship, or other factor that places them at 
potential risk of harm due to their housing conditions.   

5.9 In addition to taking direct referrals from GHA referral partners, the advice 
and casework service has established other cross-sector partnerships to drive 
delivery and implementation of related strategic objectives. 

5.10 The GHA, in partnership with NHS Lincolnshire ICB has established shared 
deliverables and actions to support the implementation of the National Bundle 
of Care for Children and Young People with Asthma. This has included:  

 Developing the shared ‘Guide to condensation, damp and mould’  
 Developing relevant content on the impacts of damp and mould on 

asthma for inclusion within the GHL web resources.  
 Establishing a direct referral route for NHS Asthma practitioners to the 

GHA Advice and Casework support service to support households 

Page 20



 

to identify and address contributing housing condition related issues and 
hazards.  

5.11 The direct referral route between NHS asthma practitioners and the GHA 
provides a single point of access for residents of all tenure to be signposted to 
the relevant district council team / housing provider or be supported directly 
by GHA caseworkers to address the identified contributing housing condition 
issue. This supports Lincolnshire to meet one of the recommendations from 
the National Child Mortality Database Report – Child deaths due to Asthma or 
Anaphylaxis (December 2024) to “ensure that all children with asthma who 
are living in homes with damp and mould are prioritised for housing repairs 
following the introduction of new Tenancy Consumer Standards”.  

5.12 The GHA, in partnership with Lincolnshire County Council Family Hubs has 
established a series of joint delivery objectives and actions to support the 
delivery of the Family Hub and Start for Life programme minimum 
expectations. This has included delivering information sessions to Family Hub 
staff, to enable them to access and support families to access the GHL 
resources hosted on Connect to Support, and establishing a direct referral 
route for Family Hub staff to support families to identify and address potential 
housing related issues. 

5.13 The GHA, in partnership with Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue has established a 
series of joint delivery objectives and actions to support the delivery of the 
LFR Prevention Strategy, including development of the GHL webpage content 
to provide information and signposting on Fire Safety within the home, 
promotion of Healthy Home Assessment to LFR Community Safety 
Advocates to raise awareness with residents and signpost to information and 
advice on environmental hazards, promotion of the LFR online Home Fire 
Safety Checks and supported completion by GHA caseworkers, and 
establishing a direct referral route for LFR to the GHA Advice and Casework 
support service to support families to identify and address potential housing 
related issues.  
 

5.14 The GHA, in partnership with Lincolnshire County Council Trading Standards 
have developed a series of shared actions to support the development and 
promotion of the Lincolnshire Buy with Confidence scheme (BwC), including 
developing GHL web content to provide information and signposting to the 
Buy with Confidence scheme, identifying opportunities to cross promote the 
GHA and BwC activities, to support residents to identify and engage trusted 
traders; and promoting the BwC scheme to traders working with clients in 
receipt of GHA support. 

5.15 The GHA team is working with the LCC Leaving Care Service’s Participation 
coordinator to gain feedback on the existing GHL resources from Care 
Experienced Young People, with the aim of ensuring the GHL resources are 
relevant and accessible to all ages, and to coproduce ‘young people – first 
homes’ targeted information and resources for inclusion within the GHL web 
pages. The response from these young people has been extremely positive, 
with express shown in supporting the development of simple housing related 
‘how to’ leaflets, posters and quick reference sheets for what to do in an 
emergency (such as gas, or water leaks etc).  

5.16 Working with the County and NHS representatives, the GHA Lead is 
supporting the development of a Lincolnshire ‘Home from Hospital’ Discharge 
Protocol. The aim of the protocol is to reduce delayed discharges, ensure 
patients who are medically fit for discharge can return to safe and warm 
homes, and provide a single consistent protocol for Lincolnshire, that brings 

Page 21



 

together key NHS, County and District services and provides clear discharge 
pathways and escalation routes when barriers to discharge are identified.  

6 LSE Evaluation Activities and GHA Outcomes 

6.1 The Centre for Ageing Better has commissioned the London School of 
Economics to undertake a process and impact evaluation of the GHA pilot 
period (1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026) to provide internal learning to inform 
GHA development and decision making and deliver an external evaluation to 
provide a comprehensive evidence base for the development of other ‘Good 
Home Hubs’ across the country. 

6.2 The LSE evaluation looks at impact, process and value for money, and uses 
a mixed methods approach of data collection, surveys, interviews, site visits 
and web analytics. LSE provided the first year of delivery report for internal 
consideration in December 2025, with a planned public document 
summarising the first year of delivery expected to be produced by the Centre 
for Ageing Better in March 2026. The final evaluation report is expected in 
September 2026, on conclusion of the full two-year pilot period. 

6.3 In the first year of delivery (September 2024 to September 2025) evaluators 
note that: 

6.4 GHL web activity 

6.4.1 The Good Home Lincs website was officially launched on 19 
September 2024 and evaluation figures run to 29 September 2025. 
Over this period there were: 

 8,637 total users, of which 7,204 were new users.  
 21,181 page views. 

6.4.2 The GHL web pages soft launched in April 2024 – over this period 
there has been a total of 9,528 users to the 29 September 2025. 

6.4.3 The top five most visited pages (excluding the GHL landing page and 
the About us page) are: 

 Healthy Home Assessment  
 Paying for Works leading to: Grants and Charitable and Financial Support 
 Home Improvements 

6.4.4 According to VPN data, just over a third of all users are from 
Lincolnshire, closely followed by London. However, this data is not 
always accurate as service providers often route IP addresses and 
traffic back to a physical location. 

6.4.5 Between 8 April and 16 Sept 2025, 84 people completed the Healthy 
Home Assessment tool—that is, about 3.5 people a week. Two-thirds 
completed the assessment independently and the remainder were 
helped by someone else. 

6.5 Engagement & Outreach activity 

6.5.1 In total, since service launch, the GHA team has attended more than 

136 events across the county, engaging with more than 2000 

residents, and more than 1900 professional engagements - in addition 

to a further 570 engagements at mixed community and professionals’ 

events. 

6.5.2 Table 1 below provides detail of GHA representation and attendance 

at WLDC events since service launch. 

Page 22



 

 

Number of 
Sessions  

Number of 
Attendees  

West Lindsey District Council   16  366  

Community Information & signposting   6  212  

Caistor Community Event   1  5  

Games by the Hall (Together Initiative)   1  52  

National Play Day event   1  18  

Social prescribers networking event   2  57  

Trent Care Community Age Matters Information Fair   1  80  

Professional Information & awareness   8  124  

Family Hubs networking event   2  32  

Frailty Meeting (NHS)   1  22  

Gainsborough Walkabout (Together Initiative)   1  15  

West Lindsey Voluntary Forum   1  30  

WLDC briefing (Healthy and Accessible Homes)   1  10  

WLDC briefing (Housing and Environmental Enforcement)   1  10  

WLDC DFG Team Meeting   1  5  

Mixed stakeholder session (Community & 
Professionals)   2  30  

Health & Wellbeing Event   1  10  

Social prescribers networking event   1  20  

 

6.6 Advice and Casework activity 
 
6.6.1 Demographics 

6.6.1.1 In total, the GHA casework team handled 233 cases in the first 
year of delivery to September 2025, 153 of which had been 
closed. 

 The majority of cases were female (65%), and - reflecting the demography 
of Lincolnshire as a whole- the majority of clients are British and are either 
classified as ‘White’ or ‘White British’.  

 Over a third of clients were over the age of 66. A small proportion (5%) 
are under the age of 18. 

 Most clients (69%) had no children in their households and 43% lived 
alone.  

 Of the 31% with resident children, more than half (16%) lived in a single 
parent household.  

 Of the clients with no children, 12% lived with another working age adult, 
and 15% lived with an older adult. 

6.6.2 Tenure 

 The majority of clients (63%) are owner occupiers, followed by social 
housing (19%), and private renting (14%). 

 The owner occupation figure is slightly lower than for the overall 
population of GHA authorities, while the proportion of social tenants is 
higher. 

6.6.3 Health conditions 

 Referrers reported that 66% of clients had some form of health 
condition impacted by the state of their homes. Some 22% had two 
conditions, and 36% had three or more.  

Page 23



 

 The most common issue was mobility (37%), followed by mental 
health challenges (17%) and asthma/COPD (14%).  

 31% of clients had ‘other medical issues’ that were not categorised. 

6.6.4 Issues in the home 

 The most frequently named issues were Financial Options (35%); 
this and the related ‘support to apply for grants’ usually appeared in 
conjunction with other physical problems.  

 Some of the physical issues overlapped, such as living in a cold 
home and boiler replacement required.  

 The most common physical issue identified was damp and mould 
(31%), followed by living in a cold home or lack of hot water, property 
disrepair/septic tank (16%), and problems with the boiler (14%).  

 Referrals most often identified the need for financial or energy 
support and issues of cold and damp, themselves possibly related to 
specific types of disrepair. 

6.6.4.1 The evaluators conducted a co-occurrence analysis to identify the 
issues that tend to be flagged together within the same referral.  

 Finance options appeared alongside roof repairs 68% of the time, 
living in a cold home/No hot water (63%) 

 Replace/Broken boiler (50%) 
 Damp & Mould (30%).  

6.6.4.2 Properties often have a number of related problems e.g., Property 
disrepair overlapped with Hoarding/Clutter (46%) and cold homes 
(37%), while hoarding often appeared with cleaning (46%) and 
finance (54%). 

6.6.5 Caseworker interventions 

6.6.5.1 Caseworker interventions span a range from the very light touch 
(simply signposting clients to information) to the intensive 
(frequent, in-person support with practical actions). In the first year 
of delivery: 

6.6.5.2 Nearly half (48%) of closed cases had received some form of 
advice and guidance, which could include either helping the client 
access a service or investigating further options.  

6.6.5.3 The most common topic in the first instance was information about 
grants (54%), followed by information about how to pay for works 
(39%). Suggesting that at least some clients had an understanding 
of the work required but were unsure how to pay for it. 

6.6.5.4 Alongside providing initial information, GHA caseworkers also 
signpost relevant services and organisations that clients could 
contact. These included: 

 the Connect to Support/Good Homes Lincs website (30% of clients) 
 Charitable support (26%), and  
 Citizens Advice/trading standards (20%)  
 Seventy-one percent of clients were signposted to at least one 

organisation.  

6.6.5.5 In some cases, caseworkers themselves contact those 
organisations with referrals, in the first year 28% of closed cases 
had been onward referred. 

6.6.5.6 Information and advice are also the initial approaches for cases 
that were still open. Providing access to financial solutions (68%), 

Page 24



 

finding trusted traders (64%), and commissioning works (61%) 
appear in most cases. 

6.6.5.7 Of the 153 closed cases, 23% (35 clients) had works delivered in 
their homes. These were most often related to: 

 Flooring (42%), including installation of carpet in social rented homes 
 Bathroom repairs (32%)   
 Unspecified remedial works (21%). 
 Heating systems and hot water accounted for another 16% together. 

6.6.5.8 Of the further 80 cases still open, 28 (35%) had works delivered 
with GHA support, and/or interventions via GHA referral at the time 
of analysis.  

6.6.5.9 Delivery of works was mostly concentrated in a handful of practical 
fixes including: 

 Bathroom/WC repairs (21%) 
 Remedial works (18%),  
 Flooring (18%), and  
 Aids/adaptations (18%).  

6.6.6 Where risks were acute, GHL had been front-loading cleaning and 
decluttering or supporting stopgaps such as providing temporary 
heaters or dehumidifiers. 

6.6.7 The table below provides a summary of the types of work delivered in 
the first year with caseworker support. 

6.6.8 Table 2. Types of work delivered with caseworker support 

Works delivered 
% of closed cases 

(153 total) 
% of still open cases 

(80 total) 

Flooring 42 18 

Bathroom / WC repair 32 21 

Remedial works (repair) 21 18 

Decluttering 11 14 

Heating system/boiler 11 14 

Pest control 5 6 

Electrical repair 5 6 

Hot water 5 6 

Plumbing 5 6 

 

6.6.9 The cost of individual interventions completed ranged from £75 
(bathroom repairs) to £6000 (repairs to heating and hot water system). 
Two clients had work delivered at no cost (decluttering and floor 
repairs).   

6.6.10 Some cases are closed with remaining issues for a variety of reasons, 
including clients’ inability to access the funding needed or resistance 
to further works being carried out in their home.  

6.6.11 Of closed cases that received caseworker support (81 cases), a 
minority (19%) still had outstanding issues with their homes after the 
case was closed. About half of such clients were unable to access the 
necessary finance, and about half still had outstanding disrepair 
issues. 

6.7 Risks Reduced 

Page 25



 

 In the first year of delivery, the most common types of risk reduced were 
overall health and safety (22%) and damp and mould (21%), followed by a 
general category of poor housing conditions. 

 In most cases more than one type of risk was reduced. 43% of cases saw 
a reduction in 1-3 risks, and one case recorded 7. 

 The table below provides a summary of the types of risks reduced by 
GHA interventions in the first year with caseworker support (of 81 closed 
cases where interventions were received). 

6.7.1 Table 3. Risks reduced by caseworker interventions 

Type of risks reduced Number %  

Health and Safety risks 18 22 

Impact of damp & mould 17 21 

Impact of poor housing condition 14 17 

Accident/ injury 10 12 

Injury /accident to child(ren) in home 8 10 

Slips trips & falls 7 9 

Cold home (Interim heating solution)  6 7 

Fire 3 4 

Clutter 3 4 

Hospital stay 3 4 

Improved energy efficiency 2 2 

Impact of overcrowding 2 2 

 

6.8 Service output and outcomes in year one 

6.8.1 LSE evaluators note that the most obvious output of the project is the 
completed improvement of 40 homes with caseworker support or 
through referral to other agencies, with many more improvements 
planned or underway 

6.8.2 A second important output was repairs and modernisation undertaken 
by clients themselves after getting information and advice from GHL 
staff and/or the HHA tool. 

6.9 Example Advice & Casework Outcomes 

 A resident being supported to return home from long-term temporary 
residential care, due to lack of heating and hot water in her primary 
residence.  

 A couple living in a shared ownership property, being supported to access 
a replacement heating system, after being without heating and hot 
water for over 8 years.  

 A child being deescalated from a child protection plan, due to 
the parents being supported to access funding and replace hazardous 
stair carpets.  

 A family with a newborn being supported to access non-council funding to 
replace a broken boiler, as opposed to accessing council-
funded discretionary housing assistance.  

 A parent of a child with SEND being supported to access appropriate 
flooring in the child's bedroom to reduce associated risks.  

 A family living in isolated rural social housing being supported through the 
process of moving to a more accessible area and enabling the children 
to more easily access care.  

 A resident being supported to access ’pro-bono’ decluttering services, 
following a clutter related house fire.  

 A resident and spouse being supported through the hospital discharge 
process accessing social housing to prevent a delayed hospital discharge, 

Page 26



 

due to the primary residence being in serious 
disrepair and an estimated works cost of approximately £60,000.  

 Residents being supported to resolve issues with damp and mould, via 
liaison with Housing Standards, and direct provision of 
information, guidance and equipment to reduce immediate severity and 
impact.  

 Providing targeted information and signposting to enable residents to 
address and self-implement solutions, following caseworker triage, 
including a veteran’s spouse being signposted to and accessing funding 
through a SSAFA grant to undertake roof repairs that they would 
otherwise have been unable to afford.  

6.10 Overall assessment and value for money 

6.10.1 LSE evaluators noted that from year one activity, benefits are 
potentially high. Positive effects in terms of reduced hazards and 
greater client wellbeing began to appear as the first cases were 
closed, and the flow of benefits is now accelerating.  

6.10.2 In the next phase of the evaluation, LSE will collect more robust 
evidence on the type and magnitude of benefits, including importantly 
reductions in public-sector costs, to inform a more detailed cost-
benefit analysis.  

6.10.3 Overall, however, LSE note that the experience of the first year 
suggests that the advice and casework service represents good value 
for money. 

6.11 Casework referrals to date 

6.11.1 In total between July 2024 (pre-launch) and 31 December 2025. The 
GHA has received a total of 391 referrals for advice and support. 

6.11.2  The table below provides data on the number of referrals received by 
the GHA across funding districts. 

6.11.3 Table 4. Referrals by GHA funding District 

BBC CoLC ELDC NKDC SHDC WLDC 

32 45 190 21 80 21 

 
6.11.4 Figure 2 below provides data on the number of referrals by month by 

resident district. 
 
6.11.5 Figure 2. Referrals by Month by Resident District (July 2024 – 31 

December 2025) 

Page 27



 

 

 

6.11.6 Referrals have been received from all referral partners. The chart 
below shows the source of referrals for WLDC residents to 31 
December 2025. 

6.11.7 Figure 3. WLDC – Source of Referrals to 31 December 2025 

 
 
 
 

7 Staffing 

7.1 The Lincolnshire Good Home Alliance currently consists of 7 x Full-time 
Equivalent (FTE) staff: 

 The GHA Lead position & 3 FTE Advice and Caseworkers – funded by 
Lincolnshire District & County councils; and 

 Three additional Caseworkers, supporting enhanced damp & mould / 
Hoarding support activities in the East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) 
area only (and funded only by ELDC). 

7.2 Additional project management capacity is provided by LCC through the 
allocation of both Public Health Programme Management and Officer 
capacity (at no additional cost to the GHA operations budget). 

0

5
10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

50

BBC CoLC ELDC NKDC SHDC WLDC

DC - Accessible 
Homes / DFG, 4, 19%

LCC - Adult Social 
Care, 1, 5%

LCC - Occupational 
Therapy, 2, 9%

LEAD - HEART / Lincs. 
4 Warmer Homes, 2, 

10%

Wellbeing Lincs., 12, 
57%

Page 28



 

7.3 The 6 Casework positions are hosted and employed by ELDC.  

7.4 The GHA Lead position is hosted and employed by Boston Borough 
Council and provides operational management of the Advice and 
Casework team under S113 arrangements between BBC and ELDC as 
part of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils (SELCP) partnership 
arrangements. 

7.5 Figure 4 below sets out the current staffing structure 

 

 
 

8 Financial implications 

8.1 This report seeks consideration on the continued funding of the GHA Advice 
and Casework service from 1 July 2026 to 31 March 2028. 

8.2 The GHA advice and casework service is currently funded by 6 District 
councils and Lincolnshire County Council. District contributions are calculated 
in line with respective proportions of DFG allocation received via LCC.  

8.3 Figure 5 below shows the current proportions of funding received from 
contributing councils for the initial pilot period to 30 June 2026. 

Figure 5. GHA Funding Council Contributions (1 July 2024 to 30 June 
2026) 

 

8.4 The table below sets out the identified contributions required from 
participating councils to continue the current advice and casework service 
level (3 FTE) and GHA Lead position for a further 21 months. 

8.5 Contributions are based on the following: 

 Continuing the GHA Lead position and 3 x full time equivalent (FTE) 
Advice & Casework Officers  

GHA Lead 

1 x FTE 

GHA Advice & 
Casework Officer 

1 x FTE

GHA Advice & 
Casework Officer 

1 x FTE

GHA Advice & 
Casework Officer 

1 x FTE

Additional 

Roles 

(ELDC Only)

GHA Advice & 
Casework Officer 

1 x FTE 

GHA Advice & 
Casework Officer -

Hoarding support x 2

BBC
6%

CoLC
8%

ELDC
21%

ELDC (Additional funding for enhanced 
damp & mould / Hoarding support)

21%
LCC
17%

NKDC
9%

SHDC
8%

SKDC (GHA Lead only)
2%

WLDC
8%

Page 29



 

 Maintaining advice and casework service contributions from existing 
funding districts – including BBC, ELDC, CoLC, NKDC, SHDC and 
WLDC, and excluding SKDC.  

 Retaining a funding contribution towards the GHA Lead position from 
SKDC (non-advice & casework service management activities).  

 Maintaining an annual equivalent funding contribution of 50,000 per 
year from LCC.  

 Calculating contributions in line with the DFG allocation formula and 
proportions received by each core funding district.  

 

Table 5. GHA Funding contributions (2026/27 to 2027/28) 

District Funding Contribution   2026/2027 2027/2028 Total Funding 

Boston Borough Council (BBC)  £11,263 £15,726 £26,989 

East Lindsey District Council (ELDC)  £36,305 £50,693 £86,997 

City of Lincoln Council (CoLC)  £15,166 £21,176 £36,342 

North Kesteven District Council (NKDC)  £16,208 £22,631 £38,840 

South Holland District Council (SHDC)  £13,749 £19,198 £32,946 

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC)  
(GHA Lead contribution only) 

£3,973 £5,484 £9,457 

West Lindsey District Council (WLDC)  £14,134 £19,736 £33,871 

Lincolnshire County Council (LCC)  £37,500 £50,000 £87,500 

 

8.6 The total funding contribution required from WLDC to continue the provision 
of GHA advice and casework activities in the WLDC area to 31 March 2028 is 
£33,871. 
 

9 Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 

9.1 The associated proposals to continue the GHA to 31 March 2028 have been 
developed in consultation with respective Housing Health and Ageing Well 
Delivery Group district and county council representatives and informed by 
the LSE evaluation, resident and stakeholder feedback. 
 

10. Recommendations  

10.1 Members consider the content of this report and provides feedback on the 
Good Home Alliance (GHA) pilot activities, performance and outcomes to 
date, to inform the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee’s 
consideration on continued funding of the GHA Advice & Casework service 
for a further 21 months from 1 July 2026 to 31 March 2028. 
 

10.2 Members support further work by WLDC officers and the Good Homes 
Alliance (GHA) on the opportunities to lobby for change and additional funding 
to support the climate agenda with retro fitting energy efficiency measures in 
households, over and above those available through the Warm Homes Local 
Grants.  
 

Page 30



 

10.3 Members champion an increase in communications to highlight the positive 
work of the Good Homes Alliance (GHA) and the unique opportunity provided 
to Lincolnshire through this service. 

 

Page 31



1 

Full Forward Plan for All Committees (as at 16 February 2026) 

 
Purpose: 
This report provides a summary of all items of business due at upcoming meetings.  
 
Recommendation: 

1. That members note the contents of this report.  
 

Date 
 

Title Lead Officer Purpose of the report Date First 
Published 

 

CORPORATE POLICY & RESOURCES 

16 APRIL 2026 

16 Apr 2026 Review of the Anti Money Laundering and 
Financial Crime Policy 

Peter Davy, Director of 
Finance and Assets 
(Section 151 Officer) 

To review the updated policy which 
outlines the Council's approach to 
preventing and identifying all forms of 
Money Laundering and Financial Crime 

09 January 
2026 

16 Apr 2026 SURESTAFF/WLDC STAFFING SERVICES 
BUSINESS PLAN 2026/2027 

Sue Leversedge, 
Financial Services 
Manager (Deputy Section 
151) 

To present the Surestaff Business Plan 
2025/26 and approve changes to 
WLDC Staff roles 

04 February 
2026 

16 Apr 2026 MARKET STREET RENEWAL LTD - 
BUSINESS PLAN 2026/2027 

Sue Leversedge, 
Financial Services 
Manager (Deputy Section 
151) 

To present the Market Street Renewal 
Ltd Business Plan 2025/26 and 
approve changes to WLDC Staff roles 

04 February 
2026 

16 Apr 2026 Thurrock/APSE Litigation Update Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To provide an update on the 
Thurrock/APSE litigation. 

 

COUNCIL 

2 MARCH 2026 

2 Mar 2026 WLDC Corporate Plan Ellen King, Policy & This report presents for approval the 10 November 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 6a



2 

Strategy Officer – 
Corporate Strategy & 
Business Planning 

Council's proposed Corporate Plan 
covering the period 2026 - 2028 

2025 

2 Mar 2026 Treasury Management Practices Caroline Capon, 
Corporate Finance Team 
Leader 

To report on Treasury Management 
Practices updated as at November 
2025 in accordance with the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Treasury 
Management in the Public Services 
(The Code) as revised in 2021 

09 January 
2026 

2 Mar 2026 Medium Term Financial Plan 26/27-30/31, the 
budget 27/28, capital programme 27/28 to 31/32 

Sue Leversedge, 
Financial Services 
Manager (Deputy Section 
151) 

The purpose of the Medium-Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) is to set a robust 
overall framework for the Council’s 
Financial Strategy and spending plans 
over the next 5 years in support of 
delivering the Corporate Plan. The 
report also sets out the Council Tax for 
2026/27. The Medium Term Financial 
Analysis includes the budget for 
2026/27 and estimates to 2030/31. It is 
based on assumptions of levels of 
futures Government Funding and 
revises previous estimates up to 
2029/30. The Capital Investment 
Strategy and Capital Programme 
records the Council’s five year 
investment plan. The Treasury 
Management Strategy details the 
Council’s Investment, Borrowing 
Strategies and Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy. 

09 January 
2026 

2 Mar 2026 Draft Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27 
and Treasury Management Practices 

Caroline Capon, 
Corporate Finance Team 
Leader 

To seek approval for the Treasury 
Management Strategy, Prudential 
Indicators, Minimum Revenue Provision 

09 January 
2026 

P
age 33



3 

Policy and Capital Investment Strategy 
to facilitate effective financial 
management and planning. To seek 
approval of the Treasury Management 
Practices 

2 Mar 2026 Scampton Expression of Interest Cara Markham, 
Commercial, Cultural and 
Leisure Development 
Manager, Matthew Snee, 
Project Officer 

To seek updated approval for the 
submission of an expression interest 
into the site disposal process 

 

16 MARCH 2026 - EXTRAODINARY COUNCIL 

16 Mar 2026 Council response to LGR Statutory Consultation Rachael Hughes, Head of 
Policy and Strategy 

Council response to LGR Statutory 
Consultation 

09 January 
2026 

13 APRIL 2026 

13 Apr 2026 Revised Member Officer Protocol Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To present a new Member Officer 
Protocol in line with LGA guidance for 
adoption 

09 January 
2026 

11 MAY 2026 - ANNUAL COUNCIL 

11 May 2026 Annual Treasury Management Report 2025/26 Caroline Capon, 
Corporate Finance Team 
Leader 

To report on Annual Treasury 
Management activities and prudential 
indicators for 2025/26 in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2003 

09 January 
2026 

11 May 2026 Annual Review of the Constitution Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer), Katie Storr, 
Democratic  Services & 
Elections Team Manager 

to present the annual review of the 
constitution 

09 January 
2026 

11 May 2026 Monitoring Officer Annual Report Katie Storr, Democratic  
Services & Elections 

To present the MOs Annual Report 09 January 
2026 

P
age 34



4 

Team Manager 

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT 

10 MARCH 2026 

10 Mar 2026 Partnership Report Katy Allen, Corporate 
Governance Officer 

Report to outline WLDCs Partnership 
Register 

10 November 
2025 

10 Mar 2026 Internal Audit Plan 2026/27 Katy Allen, Corporate 
Governance Officer 

Draft Internal Audit plan for 2026/27 09 January 
2026 

10 Mar 2026 Internal Audit Progress Report March 2026 Katy Allen, Corporate 
Governance Officer 

Progress against the 2025/26 Internal 
Audit Plan as at March 2026. 

04 February 
2026 

10 Mar 2026 Revised Member Officer Protocol Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To present a new Member Officer 
Protocol in line with LGA guidance for 
adoption 

09 January 
2026 

10 Mar 2026 Review of Whistleblowing Activity 2024-25 Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To provide the Governance and Audit 
Committee with a summary of 
Whistleblowing incidents received in 
the Financial Year ended 31 March 
2025. 

04 February 
2026 

21 APRIL 2026 

21 Apr 2026 Strategic Risk Register Katy Allen, Corporate 
Governance Officer 

Year end review of the Strategic Risk 
Register 

18 July 2025 

21 Apr 2026 Accounts Closedown 2025/26 Accounting 
Matters 

Caroline Capon, 
Corporate Finance Team 
Leader 

To review and approve the accounting 
policies, actuary assumptions and 
materiality levels that will be used for 
the preparation of the 2025/26 
accounts 

09 January 
2026 

21 Apr 2026 Internal Audit Follow Up Report April 2026 Katy Allen, Corporate 
Governance Officer 

Report on actions due from audit 
reports. Progress on any actions which 
are due prior to 1st April 2026 since the 
previous report. 

21 January 
2026 

P
age 35



5 

JOINT STAFF CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 

5 MARCH 2026 

5 Mar 2026 Review of the Anti Money Laundering and 
Financial Crime Policy 

Peter Davy, Director of 
Finance and Assets 
(Section 151 Officer) 

To review the updated policy which 
outlines the Council's approach to 
preventing and identifying all forms of 
Money Laundering and Financial Crime 

09 January 
2026 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

24 FEBRUARY 2026 

24 Feb 2026 Good Homes Alliance Sarah Elvin, Homes, 
Health & Wellbeing Team 
Manager 

Report detailing the work undertaken 
by the Good Homes Alliance since its 
start in July 2024 

09 January 
2026 

14 APRIL 2026 

PROSPEROUS COMMUNITIES 

17 MARCH 2026 

17 Mar 2026 Voluntary & Community Sector Funding 2026/27 Grant White, Communities 
Manager 

To present recommendations and 
approve future core funding awards. 

10 November 
2025 

17 Mar 2026 Sport & Physical Activity Strategy Grant White, Communities 
Manager 

To present the draft Sport & Physical 
Activity Strategy for approval. 

10 November 
2025 

28 APRIL 2026 

28 Apr 2026 Car Parking Strategy 2026-2031 Luke Matthews, Senior 
Building and Projects 
Officer 

To present the draft Parking Strategy 
and Action Plan for approval. 

10 November 
2025 

28 Apr 2026 Renters Rights Act - Policy Update Andy Gray, Housing & 
Environmental 
Enforcement Manager 

To seek approval from Councillors on 
the policy updates as a result of the 
Renters Rights Act coming into force in 
May 2026. 

09 January 
2026 

 

P
age 36



1 

Overview and Scrutiny Work Plan 

 
NB: Please note this is an indicative work plan, pending confirmation of attending 
presenters.  
 
Dates of Meetings: 
 
14 April 2026 
Presentation Item: Everyone Active  
Draft Annual Overview & Scrutiny Report and Review of Operating Methodology  
 
 
Pending Items 
 

 Portfolio Overview – per Director  
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6b


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Matters Arising Schedule
	5a Good Homes Alliance
	6a Forward Plan
	6b Committee Workplan

